CRYSTALLEX INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
Crystallex International Corporation is a Canadian-based
intermediate producer of gold with operations and exploration
properties in Uruguay, Venezuela, Brazil and Canada. Currently,
the Company is operating the San Gregorio mine in the Rivera
Crystalline Island of Uruguay and the Tomi mine and Revemin
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mill in the El Callao district of Venezuela. The Company is also
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concession in the gold-rich Kilometre 88 region of Venezuela.

preparing to commence underground mining at its Albino 1

Crystallex has held firm to its objective of maintaining disciplined
growth through internal development of exploration properties
and the acquisition of producing and near-term production
properties in high potential areas. Crystallex’s Board of Directors
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works closely with its experienced management team to determine
the economic feasibility of such acquisitions and to determine
the Company’s strategic direction.
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Crystallex Gold Properties

Shareholder Information
Crystallex International Corporation – 2000 Annual Report





Continue to explore and develop current land
holdings in Venezuela and Uruguay.
Invest in producing and near-production
projects.
Reinvest cash flow to expand current reserves
and increase production profile.



Identify and acquire under-explored properties
with the potential to host significant reserves
with low operating costs.

The San Gregorio mine in the Rivera Province of
northern Uruguay is a conventional open pit operation
with one large producing pit (San Gregorio) and three
satellite deposits (West Extension, East Extension and
Santa Teresa). Crystallex acquired San Gregorio in 1998
and is currently producing gold at an annual rate of more
than 70,000 ounces. The mill at San Gregorio, currently
operating at 3,000 tonnes per day with a 93 percent
recovery rate, will be undergoing a two-phase upgrade to
increase throughput to 4,000 tonnes per day by 2003.
This should facilitate the economic processing of
additional material to offset depletion of the main pit.

Albino 1 was the Company’s first operating open pit
mine from which it produced gold from 1994 through
1998. Engineering studies conducted in 1999 determined that underground mining was economically
feasible and preparations for such operations were
commenced in 2000. Operations are scheduled to
begin this year and, in 2002, ore will be accessed by
underground mining.

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred
Mineral Reserves
Probable

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

12,948,884 1.295
539,329 1.190
6,516,818

1.59

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Gold
Price

0.5
0.5
0.7

US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. Reserves and resources were estimated by Mauricio Martinez Cavalla, P.Eng, a qualified person
employed by Crystallex as Chief Engineer at San Gregorio.
3. Calculation Method: Medsystem Modeling Techniques.
4. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
5. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

From left to right: Brian Northgrave, Canadian Ambassador to Uruguay;
Robert A. Fung; Dr. Jorge Batlle, President of The Republic of Uruguay; Marc J.
Oppenheimer; Joaquin Sarroca, Land Manager –Minera San Gregorio.

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred
Mineral Reserves
Probable

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Gold
Price

1.0
1.0

1,183,832 2.90 1.16; 1.549(2) US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves figures at the Tomi property are not included in the Mineral Resources category,
with the exception of 184,073 tonnes at 3.8 g/t Au in Charlie Richards, which are part of the total
reserve of 1.183 million tonnes grading at 2.90 g/t Au.
2. Lower cutoff for oxide ore. Higher cutoff for sulphide ore.
3. The Charlie Richards resources were estimated by Steve Ristorcelli, P.Eng, a qualified person employed
by MDA of Reno, Nevada.
4. The Fosforito resources were estimated by Eddy Canova, P.Geo, a qualified person previously employed
by Bolivar Goldfields as Chief Geologist at Tomi.
5. The mineral reserves were verified by Nick Suter, a qualified person employed by Crystallex as Chief Mine
Geologist. The verification is based on resource and reserve estimates carried out by David A. Tutton, C.Eng,
of Micon International, Canada.
6. Calculation Method: Datamine and Gemcom Block Modeling Techniques.
7. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
8. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Lo Increible

Albino 1

Albino

Grade
Tonnes (g/t Au)

Mineral Resources
Indicated (Charlie Richards) 851,000 5.42
Inferred (Fosforito)
450,997 3.14

VENEZUELA

San Gregorio

San Gregorio

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Reserves
Probable



URUGUAY

Tomi

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

1,639,803
297,939

5.65
3.39

2.0
2.0

398,616 10.75

4.46

Gold
Price

US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. The mineral resources were verified by Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, a qualified person employed by
Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.
3. The mineral reserves were verified by Richard Gresham, P.Eng, of MHE, Arizona, a qualified person
contracted by Crystallex to prepare a feasibility study of the Albino deposit.
4. Calculation Method: Cross Sectional Polygonal.
5. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
6. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Lo Increible is a pre-feasibility stage gold property
located adjacent to Crystallex’s Revemin mill in the
El Callao region of Venezuela. Crystallex acquired
the project through a takeover bid for the shares of
El Callao Mining Corp. and the purchase of certain
assets from its principal shareholder. The transaction
was completed on February 26, 2001. La Victoria open
pit is one of several gold deposits in the project, which
while containing abundant open pit resources, may
also have the potential for future underground mining.
Lo Increible
As of December 31, 2000

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred

8,876,000 3.389
15,083,000 3.262

1.0
1.0

Mineral Reserves
Probable

5,221,195 3.146

1.0

Gold
Price

US$325/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. The resources were estimated by Susan N. Meister, Vice President Geological Modeling, a qualified person
employed by MRDI of San Mateo, California.
3. The reserves were estimated by Jim Harer, P.Eng, a qualified person employed by Bema Gold, Vancouver.
4. Calculation Method: Medsystem Modeling Techniques.
5. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
6. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Tomi Mine
Crystallex acquired the Tomi concession in June 2000
for US$20 million, by way of a payment of US$5 million in cash, a US$2 million note payable in 90 days
following the acquisition, and the assumption of
US$13 million in existing long-term debt. Located in
Venezuela’s Bolivar State, the mine’s current reserves
are located in three pits: McKenzie, Charlie Richards
and Milagrito. In addition to the concession’s openpit reserves, recent drilling below the Charlie Richards
pit has intersected continuous areas of high-grade
mineralization suggesting a strong potential for
underground mining.

The Tomi mine is currently an open-pit operation, but exploration
in the vicinity of the Charlie Richards pit indicates a strong potential
for underground mining.

Las Cristinas 4 and 6
The Cristinas gold properties in Venezuela’s Kilometre
88 region contain one of the richest gold finds in
South America with reported reserves of 233 million
tonnes grading at 1.21 g/t Au and 0.16% Cu. In 1997,
Crystallex acquired the rights to the Cristinas 4 and 6
concessions through the purchase of Inversora Mael,
the entity that has been the registered titleholder since
1986. In 1991, 1996 and 1997, the Supreme Court
of Venezuela confirmed the validity of the transfer
of the concessions to Inversora Mael. Despite a
decision by the Supreme Court in June 1998 denying
Crystallex legal standing to pursue its rights, more
recent rulings by bodies of the Supreme Court of
Venezuela in 2000 supported the Company’s legal
standing to pursue its rights in relation to these
concessions, and Crystallex is optimistic regarding
the final decision of the Venezuelan authorities.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
The effect of mining
on the environment
has always been
one of Crystallex’s
concerns, and the
Company has
implemented measures to protect the
environment at its
operations in both
Uruguay and
Venezuela. Many of these measures center on the
tailings disposition facilities, including maintaining
adequate pond lining, monitoring the pond water
and reclaiming water for reuse. Reforestation plays
an important role in the Company’s environmental
programs, and Crystallex also pays close attention
to the physical appearance of its operations, making
sure that scrap and other materials used in the mining
process are disposed of properly. The result is an
environment that allows for the economic mining
of gold and, at the same time, respects the habitats
of plants and animals that live in the regions where
the Company has operations. Such is the case with
the rare Ñandú Ostrich of Uruguay and the
endangered Ombú tree, both of which thrive
on and around the San Gregorio property. The
environment will continue to be a priority and
Crystallex plans to maintain high standards
to protect it.
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As of May 11, 2001, Crystallex International Corporation had approximately 408
shareholders of record. This number excludes individual shareholders holding stock
under nominee security positions.

Share Prices

(In Canadian dollars)

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2000
High
Low

1999
High
Low

$3.80
4.25
2.95
2.25

$1.80
1.43
1.60
2.50

$1.33
1.85
1.70
1.19

$.77
.78
.74
.99

Forward-Looking Information
This annual report may contain certain “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this report, including,
without limitation, statements regarding potential mineralization and reserves,
exploration results and future plans and objectives of Crystallex, are forward-looking
statements that involve various risks and uncertainties. There can be no assurance
that such statements will prove to be accurate, and actual results and future events
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations
are disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in documents filed
from time to time with the Toronto Stock Exchange, the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission and other regulatory authorities.

Annual Meeting
June 26, 2001, 8:30 a.m. PDT
Renaissance Vancouver Hotel
Harbourside Ballroom II
1133 West Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC V6E 3T3
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Financial Highlights
Crystallex International Corporation

(Expressed In Canadian Dollars)

2000

1999

Operating revenue

$ 47,732,737

$ 35,907,539

$

Operating expenses

$ (37,161,026)

$ (23,845,758)

Income (loss)

$

3,304,556

$

5,272,947

Earnings (loss) per share (basic)

$

0.06

$

0.13

Weighted average number of shares

1998

1997

1996

8,568,748

$ 4,502,749

$ 2,378,261

$ (9,531,391)

$ (7,142,263)

$ (4,021,818)

$ (7,215,604)

$ (9,525,664)

$ (4,680,852)

$

$

$

(0.20)

(0.34)

(0.30)

52,965,842

39,308,858

35,766,602

27,824,879

15,418,846

Total assets

$ 164,086,399

$ 112,874,185

$ 105,724,174

$ 66,324,236

$ 41,846,376

Shareholders’ equity

$ 110,913,058

$ 79,366,156

$ 67,777,429

$ 51,166,590

$ 40,036,465

95.6

$110.9

$47.7

76.9

$35.9

$79.4
$67.8
$51.2
19.5

$8.6

10.1

1997

1998

1999

2000

1997

$4.5

1998

1999

2000

1997

1998

1999

2000

Shareholders’ Equity

Total Gold Production

(Canadian Dollars In Millions)

(Ounces In Thousands)

(Canadian Dollars In Millions)

Crystallex has maintained a strong balance sheet,
which is amply illustrated in its annual increases
in Shareholders’ Equity.

The Company’s 24% increase in gold production in
2000 resulted from steady output from San Gregorio
and the mid-year acquisition of the Tomi Mine.

Crystallex’s 33% revenue increase in 2000 attests to
management’s successful execution of the Company’s
growth strategy.

Revenue

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
• Increased gold production 24 percent to 95,563 ounces at an
average cash cost of approximately $200 per ounce.
• Acquired the Tomi mine, Revemin mill and 44,438 hectares of
exploration lands in the El Callao greenstone belt, Venezuela’s most
prolific gold producer over the past 150 years.
• Announced a take-over bid to acquire all the common shares of
El Callao Mining Corp., which includes the high-potential Lo Increible
project in Venezuela. Take-over was completed February 26, 2001.
• Commenced preparations for underground mining at Albino 1 in
Venezuela.
• Began a series of upgrades at the Revemin mill designed to increase
throughput from 1,400 tonnes per day to 3,000 tonnes per day.
• Presented overall plan for development of mining in Venezuela,
including the Cristinas concessions, to the Energy and Mines Commission
of the Venezuelan National Assembly.

1

Letter To Shareholders

The growth of Crystallex’s production profile and
the significant increase of reserves and resources
extends the Company’s operational runway many
years into the future.
We also called upon our strong banking relationships, and

Marc J. Oppenheimer
President & Chief Executive Officer

refinanced our debt with a two-part, US$60-million facility, subject
to certain previously disclosed conditions. Under its terms, we can

To Our Shareholders:

defer principal payments until July, 2002 and amortize the debt over
a longer period of time. This refinancing will have a very positive

C

rystallex grew significantly and in many ways during 2000.

effect on our cash flow, enabling us to develop current projects and

Our revenue continued to grow, reaching $47.7 million,

capitalize on new high potential opportunities.

a 33 percent increase over the $35.9 million that we reported in

One of those potential opportunities, Las Cristinas in

1999. We ended 2000 with $3.3 million in net income or $0.06 per

Venezuela’s Kilometre 88 region, could greatly accelerate the

fully diluted share. This compares with $5.3 million or $0.08 per

Company’s growth over the next several years. Although confirma-

fully diluted share in 1999. Year 2000 earnings were lower than those

tion of our ownership rights to this property is entirely in the hands

of 1999 primarily because of the intense pace of activities designed

of the Venezuelan authorities, several events during 2000 give us

to accelerate the growth of the Company. These activities resulted

reason to be optimistic.

in higher interest and amortization and non-capitalized expenses related

On May 3, 2000, the Supreme Court of Venezuela issued a

to acquisitions and mill upgrades, the effect of which was compounded

decision in favor of an appeal filed by Inversora Mael, Crystallex’s

by the depressed gold market of 2000. Although reducing net income,

Venezuelan unit, against a previous adverse decision issued by the

these activities will have a very positive effect on future cash flows,

Admission Chamber of the Supreme Court of Venezuela. Then, on

which will result from increasing our production profile.

June 16, 2000, the Admission Chamber of the Venezuelan Supreme
Court issued a decision which formally admits the legal claims made

Growing our Production Profile

by Inversora Mael. This decision reinforces the Supreme Court’s

We increased gold production by 24 percent, to 95.6 thousand

decision issued on May 3, 2000, and again confirms Mael’s legal

ounces in 2000, compared to 76.9 thousand ounces in 1999. This

standing in the case.
As a result of the May and June decisions, Mael’s case can

was due in large part to our acquisition of the Venezuelan assets of
Bolivar Goldfields, which includes the Tomi mine and Revemin mill.

advance to a full and final hearing on the merits; namely the issue

The growth of Crystallex’s production profile and the significant

of ownership can now be decided by the Political-Administrative
Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice of Venezuela.

increase of reserves and resources extends the Company’s operational

During the year, Board Chairman Robert Fung and I had a

runway many years into the future. Our diamond drill program at the
Tomi property has identified a larger, high-grade resource, indicating

number of meetings with officials of the Venezuelan Government,

a potential for underground mining. In addition, our acquisition of

and on November 1, 2000, we were honoured to present the

the El Callao gold property adjacent to our Tomi property includes

Company’s overall plan for development of mining in that country

the Lo Increible Project that reportedly contains a probable reserve

to the Energy and Mines Commission of the Venezuelan National

of 5.2 million tonnes grading at 3.1 grams per tonne. When added

Assembly. The presentation, which included our three-phase plan

to our previous operations in Venezuela and Uruguay, the Company’s

for development of the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions, was very well

probable reserve grew approximately 64 percent in 2000 alone.

received. Following the presentation, the National Assembly’s Energy

2

and Mines Commission issued a statement that, in their view,

and the Tomi mine and Revemin mill in Venezuela. Our success has

Crystallex’s proposed US$400-million Las Cristinas project will

come from our disciplined approach to acquisitions, our ability to

give a great impulse to the regional and national economy, and

operate at a low cost, and a hedging program that helps maintain

that Crystallex is in position within the shortest possible time to

reasonable margins, but does not lock us out of a higher priced market

become the largest producer of gold in Venezuela.

that some analysts are anticipating for the future. The year 2000 was
a year of acquisition; 2001 will be a year of bringing it all together,

Expanding Our Board

expanding and proving our reserves, upgrading our mills and setting

Prompted by our rapid growth and expanding opportunities, we

the stage for more growth in 2002.

augmented the engineering and acquisitions expertise of our Board
of Directors by naming Gordon M. Thompson, C. William Longden

Drawing Value From Growth

and David I. Matheson to our working Board, expanding it to

We recognize that Crystallex is in an industry that has witnessed

nine members.

commodity market pressures and, in 2000, the lowest gold prices of

Mr. Thompson is Senior Vice President, Corporate Development

recent years. Despite this, our growth has accelerated to a level that would

for NCE Resources Group, an oil and gas investment management

be satisfactory in many other industries. But, because of negative

company. Prior to this post, he was head of large project development

investor perceptions of the industry we’re in, our share price has traded

for CIT Group of Toronto. Mr. Longden is Senior Partner and

in a range determined by the depressed gold sector and not by our

Executive Vice President of the engineering consulting firm of

fundamentals. At the end of 2000, our price-to-book value per share

Marshall, Macklin, Monaghan Limited. Mr. Matheson is a Partner

was .65 and price-to-earnings was 20.3. While we believe our shares

with Aird & Berlis, one of Canada’s premier law firms specializing

are undervalued, it appears that they may pose an attractive opportunity

in corporate law.

for those investors interested in emerging growth, as well as those

These new members are a timely addition to our Board, and

looking for value. Despite the challenging commodity environment,

their counsel will be invaluable as we move forward with new projects.

we believe that Crystallex’s rapid growth and continued improvement

Additionally, Robert A. Nihon, a Board member since 1996, and

in fundamentals will translate into greater value for our shareholders.

Mitchell Klein, who had been a Board member since 1997, resigned

We are grateful to our strong Board of Directors, and especially to

from the Board to pursue other business interests. Mr. Nihon and

those who retired from the Board this past year after having contributed

Mr. Klein have made many excellent contributions to Crystallex

so much; and we welcome the guidance of our new members as we

over the years and we thank them.

continue our successful strategy into this new century. We also appreciate the dedicated work of our management team and employees, whose

Building On Our Successes

skills provide the pivot point for turning our acquisitions and projects

What does this all mean for the future of Crystallex? By successfully

into profitable operations. And we thank our loyal shareholders, whose

executing the strategy that the Board and management team developed

interests are paramount as we make the important business decisions

five years ago, we have grown the Company into an intermediate pro-

that will shape the future of Crystallex.

ducer of gold. We are rapidly increasing our revenues and generating
strong cash flows. Our strategy from the very beginning was to place

Sincerely,

ourselves right where we are today. We are operating in that segment of
the gold industry that lies between the small, single location producers
and very large producers. There, we find numerous opportunities to
make acquisitions that may be too large for the small producers and
too small for the large producers. We have developed the skill sets and

Marc J. Oppenheimer

created an infrastructure that can turn a project that is losing money

President and Chief Executive Officer

into an operation that can generate a positive cash flow. These are
embodied in our successful operations at San Gregorio in Uruguay

February 22, 2001
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A Two-Part Investment Story

Part One: A Growth Vehicle

in 2000. As the more recent acquisitions are developed,
the Company’s production profile will continue to grow
to an anticipated annualized rate of 200,000 ounces by
year-end 2002, not including any production from the
Cristinas concessions.

Growth
From an exploration company – to junior gold producer –
to intermediate producer in less than five years: that’s the
kind of growth that emanates from a well-structured,
disciplined strategy driven by a strong working Board of
Directors and management team, all of whom are committed to success. It’s the kind of growth that results in
the strong balance sheet and attractive cash flow that has
defined Crystallex International’s performance over the
past five years.

Reserves and Resources
By acquiring promising mineral properties and through
diamond drill exploration, Crystallex has increased its gold
reserves considerably, more than replacing those depleted
by the Company’s gold production over the past several
years. During 2001, the Company plans to commence
drilling at the Victoria pit of its newly acquired Lo Increible
project with the objective of adding reserves to this already
large deposit.

Acquisitions
Acquisitions have played a large part in the growth of
Crystallex, beginning with the initial acquisition of Albino 1,
Carabobo and Santa Elena in 1994. In 1998, the Company
acquired Minera San Gregorio, a producing mine in Uruguay.
Then, in June 2000, it added the Tomi mine and Revemin
mill, and later in the year the Company began the acquisition of the El Callao mining property, which contains the
La Victoria open pit deposit.

Increased productivity
Increased efficiency of the Company’s operations in
Uruguay and Venezuela is largely responsible for its positive
cash flow in today’s soft gold market. Using skills developed
at its Albino 1 mine, the Crystallex management team has
created more productive work schedules, improved the size
and quality of its blasting so more material can be mined
with fewer blasts, and applied oxygenation techniques that
have raised gold recovery to 93 percent. The mill at San
Gregorio, which processed 3,000 tonnes per day in 2000,
will be upgraded to a level of 4,000 tonnes per day in order
to process additional material.
Significantly, Crystallex’s mining concessions are all
easily accessible by good roads. In fact, in Venezuela, the
Company’s line of producing mines or potential producers
are all within modest trucking distances to the Company’s
Revemin mill. The Company is currently planning to
phase in upgrades to the Revemin mill in order to increase
its capacity from 1,500 tonnes per day to 3,000 tonnes per
day. This will enable the strategically located mill to process
material from the Company’s various properties, as well as
from some of the small independent mines in the vicinity.

Growing production profile
In just five years, Crystallex’s production profile has grown
from 4.6 thousand ounces in 1996 to 95.6 thousand ounces
Production Profile
(Ounces In Thousands)

200

135
95.6
76.9

4.6

10.1

19.6

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001*

2002*

Crystallex plans to continue growing its production profile through internal
development and acquisition of other producing and near-production properties.
* Estimated year-end annualized production rates.

4

Crystallex has grown from an exploration company to
an intermediate producer of gold in just five years. It now
has a line of gold mining and exploration properties in
Venezuela that extends from its Albino 1 concession in
Kilometre 88, north to its Tomi mine and El Callao
concessions. Currently, all of these mining operations are
supported by the Company’s strategically located Revemin
mill. The Company’s San Gregorio mine in Uruguay continues to produce strong cash flow to support exploration
and expansion.

5

A Two-Part Investment Story

Part Two: A Value Play

Dr. Luca Riccio, Vice President of Exploration, is a
geologist with 27 years of experience in the mining industry.
He has held key executive positions with Anaconda Copper
and has been a consultant to BP Minerals, Homestake and
other mining companies. Dr. Riccio was responsible for
discovering the Albino 1 mine and evaluating the Company’s
other mineral property acquisitions.
Vice President of Corporate Development, A. Richard
Marshall, possesses a strong background in public finance.
His numerous institutional contacts and investor relations
experience make him a valuable asset to the Company.
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary,
K.Y. Szetho, is responsible for budgeting and controlling
the finances of the Company. His expertise is of growing
importance as the Company increases its presence in
domestic and international financial markets.

Outperforming its peers
The depressed gold market of the past few years has had
two major effects. First, it has reduced the stock price of
most companies operating in the sector, including that of
Crystallex; and second, it has opened opportunities for
Crystallex to acquire high-potential projects on very attractive terms from those companies that operate at a higher cost
than Crystallex. By applying the best mining practices to
these acquisitions and turning them into profitable operations, Crystallex, on fundamentals, has outperformed its peers.

Strong Balance Sheet
Over the past five years, Crystallex has expanded its assets
by a factor of four, increasing them from nearly $42 million
in 1996 to approximately $164 million by the end of 2000.
Shareholders’ equity also increased in 2000 reaching $111
million, compared to $40 million in 1996. Crystallex’s San
Gregorio mine in Uruguay and the Tomi mine and Revemin
mill in Venezuela continued to produce positive cash flows,
strengthening the balance sheet of the Company. As of
December 31, 2000, our book value was $1.87 per share.

Access to international money
As a consequence of having an experienced management
team and a working Board, Crystallex has developed excellent
banking relationships, which have enabled the Company to
capitalize on several growth opportunities. Such relationships
provided financing for the Company’s San Gregorio acquisition in 1998 and its acquisition of the Venezuelan assets of
Bolivar Goldfields in 2000. During the year, those loans were
refinanced by a two-part non-recourse credit facility totaling
US$60 million. The loan is subject to certain previously disclosed conditions. The first part consisted of a US$35-million term loan that will be used to refinance the existing debt.
This portion will also provide development capital for the
Company’s other Venezuelan projects. The term loan only
requires the payment of interest until July, 2002, when the
first amortization payment of US$1.5 million will be made.
Like the original San Gregorio loan, the majority of the
principal is scheduled to be repaid in the later years of the
loan. The second part of the arrangement is a US$25-million
gold trading facility. Both parts mature in 2008.

Experienced management team
A key factor in the success of the Company is the Crystallex
management team, one of the most experienced in the
business. The Company’s President and Chief Executive
officer, Marc J. Oppenheimer, built the current management team and in 1995 established the strategy that
resulted in the turn-around of the Company.
Crystallex’s Vice President of Operations, Dr. Sadek
El-Alfy, has more than 25 years of experience in the industry
and at one time held the position of General Manager of
Mining for The Iron Ore Company of Canada, one of the
world’s largest mining operations. He has been responsible
for many of the production efficiencies implemented at the
San Gregorio and Tomi mines and the Revemin mill, and
is in charge of structuring plans for the Cristinas 4 & 6
operations as well as our other projects.
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The value of Crystallex emanates from its working Board
of Directors, experienced management team and dedicated
employees who are committed to the Company’s objective
of growing its production profile in a disciplined fashion,
increasing gold output and maintaining low production
costs. This has resulted in a sharp upturn in revenues over
the past few years and an increasingly strong balance sheet.
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Crystallex’s Working
Board of Directors 2000

Front row, Left to right: Robert A. Fung–Chairman, Marc J. Oppenheimer, Enrique Tejera Paris,
Armando F. Zullo. Back Row, Left to right: Harry J. Near, David I. Matheson, Daniel R. Ross,
Gordon M. Thompson, C. William Longden.

AN INTEGRAL PART of the Crystallex
strategy is its Board of Directors who
provide valuable advice and guidance on
every major business decision. In 2000,
the Board was increased to nine members
to round out its expertise in finance,
engineering, domestic and international
law, politics and strategic planning.
ROBERT A. FUNG, Chairman of the
Crystallex Board of Directors, is also
Deputy Chairman of Yorkton Financial
Inc. In addition, Mr. Fung is Chairman
of the Task Force on Toronto’s Waterfront, a $12-billion development and
one of the largest urban renewal projects
in the history of Toronto. Mr. Fung’s
successful involvement with other natural resources companies and his lengthy
experience in corporate finance make
him particularly well qualified to head
the Crystallex Board.
MARC J. OPPENHEIMER, President
and Chief Executive Officer, Crystallex
International Corporation since 1995.
Formerly an officer with Chase Manhattan Bank in New York, Mr. Oppenheimer
built the current management team and
established the strategy that resulted in
the turn-around of the Company.

C. WILLIAM LONGDEN, Senior Partner
and Executive Vice President of the
engineering consulting firm of Marshall,
Macklin, Monaghan Limited. With more
than 30 of years experience in project
related consulting, Mr. Longden has led
the firm’s project development efforts
since 1985. He has played a prominent
role in some of Canada’s largest private
infrastructure projects such as Toronto’s
Lester B. Pearson International Airport,
the Fredericton-Moncton toll road, and
Taranet Information Systems.
DAVID I. MATHESON, Partner with Aird
& Berlis, one of Canada’s premier law
firms specializing in corporate law. His
general corporate and commercial practice includes counseling on mergers and
acquisitions, corporate governance and
regulatory matters.
HARRY J. NEAR, Principal of Earnscliffe
Strategy Group. Mr. Near also has been
an advisor to the Canadian Prime Minister and Chief of Staff to the Minister
of Natural Resources.
DANIEL R. ROSS, Partner of McCarthy
Tetrault, Canada’s largest law firm.
Mr. Ross brings a wealth of experience in
corporate business and international law.
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DR. ENRIQUE TEJERA PARIS, President
of Crystallex’s Venezuelan subsidiary,
Minera Venamo, C.A. Dr. Tejera Paris
was formerly Venezuela’s Ambassador to
Spain and had been the Venezuelan
Executive Director of the International
Monetary Fund. He is active in several
conservation societies and serves as
Managing Director of the environmental foundation created by the Company.
GORDON M. THOMPSON, Senior Vice
President, Corporate Development for
NCE Resources Group. Previously, he
was head of large project development
for CIT Group of Toronto, the largest
publicly traded project finance group in
the world. At CIT Group, he was
responsible for developing asset-financing
opportunities in the Canadian public
sector finance market.
ARMANDO F. ZULLO, Founder and
President of A.F. Zullo & Company,
a leading supplier of products to
commercial, industrial and municipal
entities including mining companies
and other multi-nationals.

2000 Financial Review
During 2000, Crystallex accelerated acquisition activity,
mill and equipment upgrades, exploration and other
initiatives for growth. As a result, gold production was
significantly higher and revenues grew by 33 percent to
$47.7million from $35.9 million reported in 1999.
Despite the higher expenses from these activities, the
Company remained profitable and maintained a strong
and improving balance sheet throughout the year.

Table Of Contents
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

10

Consolidated Balance Sheets

12

Consolidated Statements of Operations

13

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

14

Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Shareholders’ Equity

15

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

16

Independent Auditors’ Report

31

Working Board and Management

32

Shareholder Information

33

9

Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations
Crystallex International Corporation

In 2000, the San Gregorio mine accounted for 75%

For the Years Ended$
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

of the Company’s gold production and the balance was from
the newly acquired Bolivar Goldfields property. The average

Results of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company reported
a net income of $3.3 million, or $0.06 per share, compared to a
net income of $5.3 million, or $0.13 per share in 1999 and a net
loss of $7.2 million, or $0.20 per share in 1998. The operating
cash flow was $11.0 million, or $0.21 per share compared to
cash flow of $2.7 million, or $0.07 per share, in 1999 and an
operating cash deficit of $6.0 million, or $0.17 per share, in 1998.
Several factors contributed to the variation in net
income. They included a planned mill shutdown to prepare
modifications to the sag mill power system at San Gregorio and
increased operating expenses at San Gregorio due to the
increased depth of the pit. These impacted both the production and cost of production.
Revenue from gold sales of $47.7 million in 2000 was up
from $35.9 million and $8.6 million in 1999 and 1998,
respectively. The Company produced 95,563 ounces of gold
compared to 76,889 ounces in 1999 and 19,604 ounces in
1998. The higher revenue in 2000 reflects the additional production associated with the acquisition of Bolivar Goldfields,
A.V.V., which the Company completed during the third
quarter. In 2000, the Company hedged a portion of our production and as a result, we realized average revenue of US$333
per ounce, higher than the average spot market price of
US$279 per ounce.
The Company’s operating costs were $37.2 million in
2000 compared with $23.8 million in 1999 and $9.5 million
in 1998. On a per ounce basis, cash operating costs were at
$320, $258 and $415 for 2000, 1999 and 1998 respectively.
The increase was due to the sag mill modifications and
increased expenses due to the depth of the pit at the
San Gregorio mine.

grade processed at the San Gregorio mine and at the Bolivar
Goldfields property was 2.2 grams per tonne and 3.7 grams
per tonne respectively.
Expenses in 2000 were lower at $7.4 million compared
with $8.3 million in 1999 and $8.5 million in 1998. The
Company’s continuous efforts to reduce costs resulted in
investor relations expenses decreasing by $89,520 (13%) from
$680,136 in 1999 and office and administration expenses
decreasing by $598,402 (11%) from $5,645,058 in 1999.
Interest on long-term debt decreased by $231,015 from
$1,250,898 in 1999, due to the favorable interest rate
environment during the year and the reduction of the loan
balance relating to San Gregorio.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Operating Activities
The cash provided by operating activities was $11.0 million in
2000 compared with $2.7 million in 1999 and a cash deficit
of $6.0 million in 1998. The 2000 cash flow from operating
activities was used to finance capital expenditures, service
existing debt and for the acquisition of two companies.
Investing Activities
During the year, the Company invested $7.8 million to
acquire 100% of the outstanding share capital of Bolivar
Goldfields, A.V.V. and $4.6 million to acquire a portion
of the outstanding debt owed from El Callao Mining Corp.
to Bema Gold Corporation and a royalty on the El Callao
mining project.

10

Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations
Crystallex International Corporation

Financing Activities
Financing activities generated net cash of $5.5 million in
2000, representing the proceeds from equity offerings and
debt drawdowns and the exercise of warrants and stock
options during the year.
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents decreased to
$4.4 million at the end of 2000 from $6.7 million at the end
of 1999. Depending upon the Company’s acquisition, capital
expenditure, and corporate development plans, the Company
may raise additional funds through the use of non-recourse
project finance loans, lines of credit, or the sale of the
Company’s securities.
During the year, the Company made arrangements for a
two-part non-recourse credit facility totalling US$60 million
to restructure its existing bank debt and fund the continued
growth of the Company. The credit facility is subject to the
execution of definitive loan agreements, syndication by the
lender, and technical and legal due diligence. The arrangement includes, a US$35 million term loan that will be used to
refinance existing debt incurred in the acquisition of Minera
San Gregorio in Uruguay and the assets of Bolivar Goldfields,
A.V.V. in Venezuela. The term loan matures in 2008 and
requires payment only of the interest until July 15, 2002
when the first amortization payment of US$1.5 million will
be made. The loan agreement contains certain financial and
other covenants that must be maintained during the term of
the loan. Assets of certain of the subsidiary companies have
been pledged as collateral.

Regulatory and Environmental Risks
The Company takes care to maintain compliance with the
regulations prevalent in the countries within which it has
activities (currently Uruguay, Venezuela and Brazil). Concern
for the environment has spawned several regulations with
regard to mining in various countries. The Company believes
that its environmental programs, developed internally in
conjunction with local advisers, not only complies with but,
in some cases, exceeds prevailing regulations. Costs relating
to ongoing site restoration are expensed when incurred.
The Company’s estimate of its ultimate reclamation liability
may vary from current estimates due to possible changes
in laws and regulations and changes in costs estimated.
The Company will accrue additional liabilities for further
reclamation costs as and when evidence becomes available
indicating that its reclamation liability has changed.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Crystallex International Corporation – 2000 Annual Report

As at December 31 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Assets
Current
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Production inventories
Supplies inventory and prepaid expenses
Marketable securities (Note 3)
Due from related parties
Security deposits
Long-term investment securities (Note 4)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 6)
Deferred financing fees (Note 7)
Deferred acquisition costs (Note 8)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)
Loan payable (Note 11)
Reclamation provision (Note 9)
Long-term debt (Note 10)
Deferred charges
Minority Interest
Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock
Authorized
Unlimited Common shares, without par value
Unlimited Class “A” preference shares, par value $50
Unlimited Class “B” preference shares, par value $250
Issued
December 31, 1999 – 45,295,569 common shares
December 31, 2000 – 59,154,221 common shares
Capital stock subscribed
December 31, 1999 – Nil common shares
December 31, 2000 – 1,025,000 common shares
Cumulative translation adjustment
Deficit

2000

1999

$ 4,418,442
2,409,709
10,994,368
2,957,347
227,901
35,618

$ 6,652,863
3,224,518
10,549,618
1,319,033
38,186
35,337

21,043,385

21,819,555

255,131
2,643,338
135,444,453
101,453
4,598,639

190,468
–
90,864,162
–
–

$164,086,399

$112,874,185

$ 16,611,935
292,184
487,338
700,000

$ 8,657,029
71,095
6,564,800
–

18,091,457
1,485,301
32,656,570
797,127

15,292,924
1,081,329
16,848,835
284,941

53,030,455

33,508,029

142,886

–

130,732,129

105,393,744

1,955,644
(344,513)
(21,430,202)

–
(1,292,830)
(24,734,758)

110,913,058

79,366,156

$164,086,399

$112,874,185

Contingencies (Note 6), Commitments (Note 18). The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2000

1999

1998

$47,732,737

$35,907,539

$ 8,568,748

30,536,525
6,624,501

19,829,577
4,016,181

8,131,979
1,399,412

10,571,711

12,061,781

107,656
392,371
28,987
1,019,883
590,616
5,046,656
246,267
–

102,623
312,192
–
1,250,898
680,136
5,645,058
273,299
–

78,753
1,539,327
–
154,751
1,003,735
4,652,399
818,258
212,981

7,432,436

8,264,206

8,460,204

3,139,275

3,797,575

(9,422,847)

624,616
(562,191)
–
102,856
–

1,681,787
(320,246)
113,831
–
–

1,095,692
1,157,791
–
21,043
(67,283)

165,281

1,475,372

2,207,243

Income (loss) for the year

$ 3,304,556

$ 5,272,947

$(7,215,604)

Basic earnings per share (Note 2)

$

0.06

$

0.13

$

Fully diluted earnings per share (Note 2)

$

0.06

$

0.08

$

Operating Revenue
Operating Expenses
Operations
Amortization and depletion

Expenses
Amortization
Consulting
Financing fees
Interest on long-term debt
Investor relations
Office and administration
Professional fees
Write-down of mineral properties
Income (loss) before other items
Other Items
Interest and other income
Foreign exchange
Gain on debt settlement
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Write-down of marketable securities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(0.20)
–

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Years Ended December 31 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Cash flows from operating activities
Income (loss) for the year
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash
used in operating activities:
Amortization and depletion
Amortization of deferred charges
Foreign exchange
Gain on debt settlement
Gain on loan repayment
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Interest on long-term debt
Write-down of marketable securities
Write-down of mineral properties and deferred exploration costs
Management fee
Reclamation provision
Changes in other operating assets and liabilities:
(Net of effects from purchase of subsidiaries)
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in production inventories
Increase in supplies inventory and prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in due from related parties
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties

2000

1999

$ 3,304,556

$ 5,272,947

1998
$ (7,215,604)

6,732,157
67,503
562,191
–
(110,312)
(102,856)
132,532
–
–
35,000
403,972

4,118,804
(113,976)
(12,727)
(113,831)
(68,638)
–
84,141
–
–
34,560
409,522

1,478,165
–
52,365
–
–
(21,043)
113,857
67,283
212,981
–
139,749

1,590,337
694,250
(1,638,314)
(281)
(874,342)
221,089

(1,246,031)
(4,222,365)
(304,258)
4,623
(838,354)
(311,677)

94,649
(375,840)
(11,138)
(39,960)
(514,018)
–

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

11,017,482

2,692,740

(6,018,554)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of subsidiaries (Net of cash acquired)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deferred acquisition costs
Security deposits
Purchase of long-term investment securities
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities
Purchase of marketable securities

(7,761,691)
(3,610,509)
(4,598,639)
(64,663)
(2,643,338)
137,143
(224,002)

–
(2,806,036)
–
(11,309)
–
–
–

(10,822,396)
(7,517,602)
–
43,844
–
180,090
–

Net cash used in investing activities

(18,765,699)

(2,817,345)

(18,116,064)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of capital stock for cash
Capital stock subscribed
Debt borrowings
Debt repayments

3,704,095
1,955,644
10,191,625
(10,370,847)

19,000
–
2,854,425
(1,090,314)

4,331,110
–
8,487,085
–

5,480,517

1,783,111

12,818,195

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

(2,267,700)
33,279

1,658,506
(541,359)

(11,316,423)
10,360

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(2,234,421)
6,652,863

1,117,147
5,535,716

(11,306,063)
16,841,779

Net cash provided by financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$ 4,418,442

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 6,652,863

$ 5,535,716

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Crystallex International Corporation – 2000 Annual Report

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Issued
Number
of Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 1997
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued for mineral
property acquisition
Shares issued on conversion
of notes
Share issuance costs on
conversion of notes
Translation adjustment
Loss for the year

31,267,914 $ 74,111,613
1,343,250
4,331,110

Capital Stock Subscribed
Number
of Shares
Amount

–
–

$

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustments

Deficit

Total

– $(22,792,101) $(152,922) $ 51,166,590
–
–
–
4,331,110

555,000

950,400

–

–

–

–

950,400

3,375,317

19,146,261

–

–

–

–

19,146,261

–
–
–

(611,688)
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
(7,215,604)

–
10,360
–

(611,688)
10,360
(7,215,604)

Balance at December 31, 1998
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued for
management fees
Shares issued for legal fee
Shares issued for mineral
property acquisition
Shares issued on conversion
of notes
Share issuance costs on
conversion of notes
Shares issued for consulting fees
Translation adjustment
Income for the year

36,541,481
19,000

97,927,696
19,000

–
–

–
–

(30,007,705)
–

(142,562)
–

67,777,429
19,000

81,824
929,666

71,470
1,079,246

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

71,470
1,079,246

3,033,165

3,189,412

–

–

–

–

3,189,412

4,306,930

3,281,149

–

–

–

–

3,281,149

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
– (1,150,268)
5,272,947
–

Balance at December 31, 1999
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued for
management fees
Shares issued for legal fee
Shares issued for mineral
property acquisition
Shares issued on conversion
of notes
Share issuance costs on
conversion of notes
Shares subscribed for cash
Translation adjustment
Income for the year

45,295,569 105,393,744
3,181,408
3,704,095

–
–

–
–

(24,734,758) (1,292,830)
–
–

Balance at December 31, 2000

59,154,221 $130,732,129

–
383,503
–
–

(500,091)
325,862
–
–

(500,091)
325,862
(1,150,268)
5,272,947
79,366,156
3,704,095

29,536
300,000

69,557
698,820

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

69,557
698,820

5,849,153

13,301,958

–

–

–

–

13,301,958

4,498,555

8,417,576

–

–

–

–

8,417,576

(853,621)
– 1,025,000
–
–
–
–

1,955,644
–
–

–
–
3,304,556

–
948,317
–

–
–
–
–

1,025,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(853,621)
1,955,644
948,317
3,304,556

$1,955,644 $(21,430,202) $(344,513) $110,913,058

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Crystallex International Corporation – 2000 Annual Report (Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1

Income Taxes
Effective January 1, 2000, the Company has retroactively
adopted the liability method of accounting for income taxes,
following new standards adopted by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants. The adoption of the new standards
resulted in no adjustments to opening retained earnings. Under
the new standards, future income tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the differences between the tax basis of
assets and liabilities and those reported in the financial statements. The future tax assets or liabilities are calculated using
the tax rates for the periods in which the differences are expected
to be settled. Future tax assets are recognized to the extent that
they are considered more likely than not to be realized.

Nature of Operations

The Company is in the business of acquiring and developing
mineral properties. The recoverability of the amounts shown
for mineral properties and related deferred costs is dependent
upon the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the
ability of the Company to complete the development of the
properties and upon future profitable production.

2

Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and all its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates
Management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reported period. Actual results
could differ from these estimates.

Mineral Properties
The Company records its interests in mineral properties and
areas of geological interest at cost. All direct costs relating to
the acquisition of these interests are capitalized on the basis of
specific claim blocks or areas of geological interest until the
properties to which they relate are placed into production,
sold or abandoned. The costs will be amortized over the
proven reserves of the related property following commencement of production. Proceeds received, as a result of the sale
of a mineral property, will be applied against the book value
of the property. Any revenue received in excess of the property’s book value will be included in income at that time.

Reclamation Costs
The Company’s policy for recording reclamation costs is to
record a liability for the estimated costs to reclaim mined land
by recording charges to production costs for each tonne of ore
mined over the life of the mine. The amount charged is based
on management’s estimation of reclamation costs to be incurred.
The accrued liability is reduced as reclamation expenditures are
made. Certain reclamation work is performed concurrently
with mining and these expenditures are charged to operations
at that time.

Deferred Exploration Costs
The Company defers all direct exploration costs relating to
mineral properties and areas of geological interest until the
properties to which they relate are placed into production,
sold or abandoned. These costs will be amortized over the
proven reserves of the property following commencement of
production. The Company’s gold producing mineral properties are the Albino 1 concession, San Gregorio Mining Concession and the Bolivar Goldfields properties. As the
Company’s policy is to amortize deferred exploration costs
over total proven reserves, the Company is currently using
total gold produced as its basis for amortization of these costs.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from mining operations is recognized when gold
and silver are shipped to the refineries.
Production Inventories
Production inventories of gold and silver in process are stated
at the lower of average production cost and net realizable
value. It is possible that estimates of recoverable ore, grade
and gold and silver prices could change causing the Company
to write-down production inventory.

Values
The amounts shown for mineral properties and deferred
exploration costs represent costs incurred to date and are not
intended to reflect present or future values.

Supplies Inventory
Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of average and
replacement costs.
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Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated
amortization. Amortization of plant and equipment used
directly in the mining and production of gold is included in
operating costs. Amortization of plant and equipment used
directly on exploration projects is included in deferred exploration costs and is charged against operations when the related
property commences production. Amortization is being provided for using the straight-line method over periods ranging
from 5 to 20 years.
Mine development cost is amortized over total proven
reserves. The Company will use total gold produced as its
basis for amortization of these costs.

Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the year. For the years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, the weighted average number of shares outstanding was 52,965,842, 39,308,858
and 35,766,602, respectively.
Fully diluted earnings per share consider the dilutive impact
of the conversion of outstanding stock options and warrants as
if the events had occurred at the beginning of the year. For the
years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the number of
common shares outstanding during the period used to calculate
fully diluted earnings per share was 57,596,191 and 82,469,649,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 1998, this calculation proved to be anti-dilutive.

Foreign Exchange
The accounts of subsidiaries, which are integrated operations,
are translated using the temporal method. Bolivar Goldfields,
A.V.V., which is a self-sustaining operation in a hyperinflationary economy, is also translated using the temporal
method. Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities
are translated at the year-end exchange rates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities are translated using historical rates of
exchange. Revenues and expenses are translated at the rates
of exchange prevailing on the dates such items are recognized
in earnings. Exchange gains and losses are included in income
for the year.
The accounts of subsidiaries which are self-sustaining
operations are translated using the current rate method. Under
this method assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end
exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates such items are recognized in earnings. Exchange gains and losses are included in a
separate component of shareholders’ equity under cumulative
translation adjustment.
Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into local functional currency at exchange rates
prevailing at transaction dates.

Long-Term Investment Securities
These securities are stated at cost, unless there has been an other
than temporary decline in value at which time the securities
are written down and the unrealised loss is recognized in determination of net income.
Gold Loans
Gold loans are initially recorded at the gold price received on
the drawdown date and are revalued at the market price of
gold prevailing at each balance sheet date. The unrealized
gain or loss resulting from the mark-to-market adjustment is
recorded as a deferred charge and amortized over the remaining term of the loan. Gold used to repay the loan will be
recorded as revenue based on the initial drawdown price.
Commodity Instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments including
forward contracts to manage its exposure to fluctuations in the
market price of gold. The instruments are intended to reduce
or eliminate the risk of falling prices on the Company’s future
gold production. Gains and losses on forward contracts,
including spot deferred contracts, are recognized in gold sales
revenues when the related designated production is delivered.

Marketable Securities
Marketable securities are carried at the lower of cost and
market value.

Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
with the current year’s presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.
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3

6

Marketable Securities

The quoted market value of marketable securities at December 31, 2000 was $227,901 (1999 - $38,186). During the
year ended December 31, 2000, the Company wrote-down
its investment in marketable securities by $Nil (1999 – $Nil;
1998 – $67,283).

4

2000
Plant and equipment
Mineral properties
Deferred exploration costs
Less: Accumulated amortization
and depletion

Long-Term Investment Securities

The Company’s investment in long term investment securities
consists of shares in a publicly listed company and has a current
market value of $1,304,000. These shares have been pledged.

5

Property , Plant and Equipment

(16,253,776) (9,454,141)
$135,444,453 $ 90,864,162

Mineral properties:

2000
Santa Elena, San Miguel and
Carabobo Concessions
Albino 1 Concession
Cristinas 4 and 6 Concessions
Bolivar Goldfields properties
Mineiro Concession
Knob Hill property
Other

Acquisition

Effective July 27, 2000, the Company acquired 100% of the
outstanding share capital of Bolivar Goldfields, A.V.V. The
company, through its subsidiaries, is involved in mining
activities and the exploration and development of mineral
properties.
The acquisition has been accounted for by using the purchase
method, and can be summarized as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable and other assets
Production & supplies inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt
Minority interest
Consideration paid
Consideration paid consists of:
Cash paid
Common shares of the Company
Acquisition costs

1999

$ 61,614,361 $ 43,971,102
81,320,110
47,717,128
8,763,758
8,630,073
151,698,229 100,318,303

Less: Accumulated depletion

$

266,520
775,504
1,139,000
36,046,792
(8,863,887)
(18,847,225)
(142,862)
$ 10,373,842
$ 7,745,725
2,345,631
282,486
$ 10,373,842

The results of the operations of the investee have been
included with those of the Company from the effective date
of the acquisition.
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1999

$ 3,416,576 $ 3,416,576
17,710,939
17,710,939
37,990,369
25,346,779
20,959,392
–
724,548
724,548
518,283
518,283
3
3
81,320,110
47,717,128
(3,783,529) (1,675,662)
$ 77,536,581 $46,041,466
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Deferred exploration costs:
Albino
Contracting
Equipment rental and expenses
Consulting fees
Geology and engineering
Field expenses
Samples and geochemistry
Travel
Wages
Drilling
Less: Accumulated depletion

$ 482,051
540,448
444,782
805,953
318,405
33,613
41,640
792,309
3,347,697
6,806,898
(644,232)
$6,162,666

Santa Elena
Carabobo

San
Gregorio

Mineiro

$124,119
74,112
50,341
195,225
61,245
48,047
85,246
127,163
–
765,498
–
$765,498

$

–
–
–
413,336
140,479
60,175
102,420
–
173,853
890,263
–
$890,263

$

–
1,469
–
–
15,619
–
–
284,011
–
301,099
(101,651)
$ 199,448

2000
$ 606,170
616,029
495,123
1,414,514
535,748
141,835
229,306
1,203,483
3,521,550
8,763,758
(745,883)
$8,017,875

1999
$ 606,170
616,029
495,123
1,414,514
535,748
141,835
229,306
1,069,798
3,521,550
8,630,073
(678,380)
$7,951,693

concession was fully paid by December 31, 1997. A 1% Net
Smelter Return Royalty is payable to the MEM from the proceeds of gold production.

Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo Concessions
The Company has an option to acquire a 100% interest in
three concessions known as the Santa Elena, San Miguel and
Carabobo properties, all located in Bolivar State, Venezuela.
The proven and probable reserves of the properties have not
yet been determined.
On July 4, 1995, the Ministry of Energy and Mines (“MEM”)
gave notice to Associacion Cooperativa Minera Mixta del Sur
R.L. (“ACOMIXSUR”) in connection with its right to sell the
Santa Elena 7 and 8, Carabobo and San Miguel 8 concessions
to the Company. ACOMIXSUR filed a response asserting its
rights with the MEM and awaits a response from the Ministry.
Separately, the Company has filed a petition with the Venezuelan Supreme Court seeking confirmation of the title. Although
the Company and its independent counsel are confident that
all necessary procedures were followed and rules adhered to in
order to ensure that such agreement was properly entered into
by ACOMIXSUR and that the Company will have good title
to the Santa Elena, Carabobo and San Miguel concessions,
there can be no assurance that the court will not subsequently
agree with the MEM notice. The exact effect of an adverse
finding by the court cannot be accurately predicted, but such
circumstances could result in such agreement being rescinded
or re-negotiated. The Company intends to be aggressive in
pursuing its right to these properties.
In addition to the above, the Company entered into a joint
venture agreement with ACOMISUR, the successor cooperative to ACOMIXSUR. Under this agreement, the Company’s
Venezuelan subsidiary will own 80% percent of the joint
venture and ACOMISUR will own 20% percent, with the
Company’s subsidiary being the operator.

Cristinas 4 and 6 Concessions
In March 1997, the Company acquired rights to the Cristinas
4 and 6 concessions located in Kilometre 88, Venezuela. The
Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions have been under investigation
and exploration for several years by Placer Dome Inc., under
a joint venture agreement with Corporacion Venezolana de
Guayana (“CVG”). The Cristinas 4 concession is adjacent to
the Company’s Albino 1 concession. The Company holds its
interest in Cristinas 4 and 6 through Inversora Mael, C.A.
(“Mael”), a Venezuelan company (See Note 18). The Supreme
Court of Venezuela issued rulings in 1991, 1996 and 1997
confirming the validity of the transfer of the concessions to
Mael. Following the 1997 ruling, Mael commenced a further
action in the Supreme Court of Venezuela seeking a ruling
requiring the MEM to recognize fully Mael’s title ownership
of the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions. On June 11, 1998, the
Venezuelan Supreme Court ruled that Mael does not have
status to assert ownership rights over Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions and refused to proceed with this action. In the opinion
of counsel, prior contradictory decisions of the Venezuelan
Supreme Court were not overruled by the June 11, 1998 decision.
In August 1999, the Company commenced two legal proceedings in Venezuela in order to enforce its rights in relation
to the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions. The first proceeding
seeks to nullify the joint venture agreement previously entered
into between CVG and MINCA, a Venezuelan joint venture
in which Placer Dome has been a participant. In essence, this
action challenges the original legal basis on which CVG purported to confer contractual rights to exploit the Cristinas 4
and 6 concessions commercially. The second proceeding
seeks to nullify the effect of the settlement agreement entered
into in 1991 in respect of a lawsuit between Mael, the Republic of Venezuela, CVG and Ramon Torres.

Albino 1 Concession
By agreement with Albino Bonucci, dated December 23, 1992,
the Company, through its subsidiaries, acquired a 100% interest in the Albino 1 concession in Bolivar State, Venezuela. The
consideration of $13.8 million to acquire the interest in the
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In September 1999, Venezuela published a new mining
law providing that mining privileges may only be conferred
by concession. MINCA has since applied to convert its contractual rights, in respect of Cristinas 4 and 6, into a concession. It is uncertain whether this application will be granted.
Such application has not been published in the Official
Gazette. Should it be published, the Company will be entitled
to file an opposition.
In May 2000, the Supreme Court of Venezuela issued a
decision in favour of an appeal filed by Mael against a previous
decision issued by the Admission Chamber of the Supreme
Court of Venezuela. The Supreme Court’s Admission Chamber
decision refused to admit the August 1999 action seeking to
nullify the 1991 settlement agreement described above. Like
the Venezuelan Supreme Court rulings in 1991, 1996 and
1997, which confirmed Mael’s legal standing regarding the
Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions, the Supreme Court’s decision
recognizes Mael’s legal standing in this matter. In its decision,
the Supreme Court of Venezuela reviewed each of the arguments presented by MINCA and CVG, and ruled against
each argument. By reviewing and ruling individually against
each of the MINCA and CVG arguments, those parties are
barred from raising and cannot again present these arguments
before the Supreme Court in this lawsuit. The decision,
which cannot be appealed, was approved by the majority of
the justices. The only dissenting opinion was in the form of
a single sentence dealing with procedural aspects of the decision, and contained nothing opposing the case filed by Mael.
In June 2000, the Admission Court of the PoliticalAdministrative Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice of
Venezuela issued a decision which formally admits the legal
claims made by Mael. As a result of the May and June decisions, Mael’s case respecting the ownership of the Cristinas 4
and 6 concessions can advance to a full and final hearing on
the merits before the Political-Administrative Chamber of the
Supreme Court of Justice of Venezuela.
Pending resolution of these legal proceedings and determinations to be made under the new mining law, the Company
has determined not to write off its investment. The costs
relating to acquiring the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions have
been capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition of the
mineral property. The total cost incurred to December 31,
2000 was $37,990,369. In the event that the Company is
unsuccessful in obtaining possession of the property, these
costs, and any subsequent costs incurred, will be expensed to
operations in that period.

El Tigre Concession
During 1998, the Company decided that it would not proceed
with the exploration and development of the El Tigre Concession. As a result, all costs of acquisition and related deferred
exploration and development costs have been written off.
Mineiro Concession
By an agreement dated March 11, 1997, the Company, through
its interest in Diamond Company Ltda, acquired a 65% interest
on the Mineiro concession, consisting of 9,600 hectares in
Amapa State, Brazil. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the
Company paid $366,987 and issued 100,000 common shares
of the Company at a deemed value of $355,000.
San Gregorio Mining Concession
By an agreement dated October 2, 1998, the Company,
through one of its subsidiaries, acquired a 100% interest in
the San Gregorio mining concession in Uruguay. The
Uruguayan government mining agency has granted the
Company exploitation rights over the concession for 15 years
subject to a net profit royalty.
Bolivar Goldfields Properties
By an agreement dated June 26, 2000, the Company acquired
all the outstanding share capital of Bolivar Goldfields, A.V.V.
This acquisition includes the Tomi concession, Revemin mill
and exploration lands in Venezuela. The exploration lands
include the Dividival I and II and the Belen II concessions in
the El Callao greenstone belt in Venezuela.
Title to Mineral Properties
Title to mineral properties involves certain inherent risks due to
the difficulties of determining the validity of certain claims as
well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently
ambiguous conveyancing history characteristic of many mining
properties. The Company has investigated title to all of its mineral properties and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its
properties is in good standing, subject to the comments contained in this Note 6. The properties in which the Company has
committed to earn an interest are located in Uruguay, Venezuela
and Brazil, South America and the Company is therefore relying
on title opinion by legal counsel who are basing such opinions
on the laws of Uruguay, Venezuela and Brazil.

7

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees of $101,453 (net of accumulated
amortization of $28,987) at December 31, 2000, relate to costs
incurred in the issuance of the convertible notes financing.
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8

The loan agreement contains certain financial and other
covenants that must be maintained during the term of the
loan. Assets of certain of the subsidiary companies have been
pledged as collateral.

Deferred Acquisition Costs

Deferred acquisition costs are comprised of US$3 million
paid to Bema Gold Corporation (“Bema”), pursuant to an
agreement to purchase Bema’s interest and rights in the El
Callao Mining Corporation (“ECM”) and the Lo Increible
Project. As part of this agreement, Bema has agreed to sell and
assign to the Company US$3 million of outstanding debt
from ECM to Bema, as evidenced by a loan agreement
between ECM and Bema dated June 30, 2000.
In addition, the Company intends to purchase control of the
Lo Increible project through a take-over bid for all the shares of
ECM, and the acquisition of approximately US$14.3 million
of debt owed from ECM to Bema and a royalty on the Project’s
cash flow. Bema has agreed to tender its 45% stake in ECM
into the Company’s take-over bid. Assuming all shares are
tendered, and based upon a share exchange ratio of 1 of the
Company’s shares for every 15 ECM shares, the Company will
be acquiring these assets for an aggregate consideration of
approximately US$12.0 million. (Note 20)

9

Bank Loan
During 1998, Minera San Gregorio S.A. entered into a fouryear loan agreement. The loan bears interest at the London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus an applicable margin,
negotiated between both parties. Certain equipment is
secured against the loan.
During the year, Mineras Bonanza, C.A. entered into a
two-year bank loan facility of $12,779,750. The facility bears
interest at the LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The bank
loan is secured by first mortgages over all the land, buildings
and chattel of Mineras Bonanza, C.A. and Revemin II, C.A
During the year, the Company made arrangements for a
two-part non-recourse credit facility totalling US$60 million
to restructure its existing bank debt and fund the continued
growth of the Company. The credit facility is subject to the
execution of definitive loan agreements, syndication by the
lender, and technical and legal due diligence. The arrangement includes, a US$35 million term loan that will be used to
refinance existing debt incurred in the acquisition of Minera
San Gregorio in Uruguay and the assets of Bolivar Goldfields,
A.V.V. in Venezuela. The term loan matures in 2008 and
requires payment only of the interest until July 15, 2002
when the first amortization payment of US$1.5 million will
be made. The loan agreement contains certain financial and
other covenants that must be maintained during the term of
the loan. Assets of certain of the subsidiary companies have
been pledged as collateral.

Reclamation Provision

Costs relating to ongoing site restoration are expensed when
incurred. The Company’s estimate of its ultimate reclamation
liability may vary from current estimates due to possible
changes in laws and regulations and changes in costs estimated. The Company will accrue additional liabilities for
further reclamation costs as and when evidence becomes
available indicating that its reclamation liability has changed.

10
Gold loan
Bank loan
Convertible notes
Less: Current portion
of the long-term debt

Long-Term Debt
2000

1999

$18,178,673
13,682,938
1,282,297
33,143,908

$22,078,582
1,335,053
–
23,413,635

Convertible Notes
The notes mature on April 26, 2003 and are convertible into
common shares of the Company at a discount to the market
price at the time of conversion. Interest is payable quarterly at a
rate of 7% per annum. As at December 31, 2000, $1,282,297
(December 31, 1999 – $Nil) remains outstanding.

(487,338) (6,564,800)
$32,656,570 $16,848,835

11

Gold Loan
During 1998, the Company, through a subsidiary, has entered
into a non-recourse five-year bank credit facility of $24,532,800
or equivalent ounces of gold. The facility bears interest at the
LIBOR for United States dollar-denominated loans or the gold
base rate for gold ounce-denominated loans plus an applicable
margin, negotiated between both parties. The Company has
the ability to repay the loan in either United States dollars,
gold, or common shares of the Company.

Loan Payable

The loan is repayable upon demand. Interest is payable
monthly at a rate of prime plus 1%. The long-term investment
securities (Note 4) are pledged as security against the loan.
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Options and Warrants

At December 31, 2000, warrants were outstanding enabling the holders to acquire the following number of common shares:
Number
of Shares

Price

3,000,000
500,000
500,000
960,443
120,000
111,940
77,220
1,685,647
41,122
150,000
1,038,750

US$2.00
US$1.00
US$1.35
US$0.99
US$1.65
US$1.63
US$2.47
US$2.84
US$2.84
US$1.25
$2.75

Range of
Expiry Dates
03-05-2001 to 03-05-2002
03-31-2001 to 03-31-2003
03-31-2001 to 03-31-2003
04-13-2001
02-11-2002
03-06-2002
04-04-2002
04-26-2002
04-26-2002
08-02-2004
09-08-2002

The Company follows the policies of the TSE under which it is authorized to grant options to executive officers and directors,
employees and consultants enabling them to acquire up to 5% of the issued and outstanding common stock of the Company.
Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the closing price of the Company’s stock on the trading day immediately
preceding the date of the grant.
The following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2000:

Range of
Exercise Prices

Number
of Shares

Outstanding Options
Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Life (Years)

$0.85 to $1.00
$1.41 to $1.50
$2.00 to $2.65

2,101,792
2,536,000
1,677,500

5.49
6.20
7.61

13

Exercisable Options
Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number
of Shares

$0.98
$1.51
$2.21

2,101,792
2,536,000
1,677,500

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$0.98
$1.51
$2.21

SFAS No. 123 in accounting for its stock option plan. Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles do not require the
reporting of any stock based compensation expense in the
Company’s financial statements.
The Company uses the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model
to determine the fair value of employee stock options at the
issuance date. In determining the fair value of these employee
stock options, the following assumptions were used:

United States Generally Accepted$
Accounting Principles

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada.
Except as set out below, these financial statements also comply,
in all material respects, with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Risk free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

(1) Stock Based Compensation
The United States Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) has issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation,” which became effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1995. This statement requires the
Company to establish a fair market value based method of
accounting for stock based compensation plans. In 1996, for
United States reporting purposes, the Company adopted

2000

1999

1998

6.25%
2 years
104%
–

5.07%
2 years
165%
–

4.63%
2 years
206%
–

The application of SFAS 123 resulted in the reporting of
compensation expenses in the amount of $2,447,767, $734,015
and $3,577,980 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999
and 1998 respectively.
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Following is a summary of the stock based compensation plan during 2000, 1999 and 1998:
2000

Outstanding and exercisable,
beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Outstanding and exercisable,
end of the year
Weighted average fair value options
granted during the year

1999

Number
of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

6,585,000
2,027,500
(2,222,208)
(75,000)

$1.15
2.13
1.03
–

6,315,292

$1.52

Number
of Shares

$1.21

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number
of Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

6,358,000
1,018,500
(19,000)
(772,500)

$1.30
1.13
1.00
2.33

6,177,000
660,000
(328,500)
(150,500)

$4.03
1.27
3.21
5.64

6,585,000

$1.15

6,358,000

$1.30

$0.72

(2) Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Under both Canadian and United States generally accepted
accounting principles, basic earnings (loss) per share is computed
by dividing the earnings (loss) to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
year. For Canadian reporting purposes fully diluted earnings
per share is calculated under the assumption that all convertible notes were converted at the date issued and stock options
and warrants exercised at the date of grant. For United States
reporting purposes, in February 1997, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 128 “Earnings per share.” Under SFAS 128, diluted earnings per share takes into consideration the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the year and potentially
dilutive common shares.
Under United States generally accepted accounting principles, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding excludes any shares that remain in escrow, but may be earned
out based on the Company incurring a certain amount of exploration and development expenditures.
The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for calculating basic earnings (loss) per share under United
States generally accepted accounting principles for the years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were 52,965,842,
39,308,858 and 35,766,602 respectively. The calculation of
diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
2000, 1999 and 1998 proved to be anti-dilutive.

1998

$0.65

(3) Mineral Properties and Deferred Exploration Costs
Under Canadian generally accepted accounting principles,
the mineral properties, including prospecting and acquisition
costs, are carried at cost and written down if the properties are
abandoned, sold or if management decides not to pursue the
properties. Under United States generally accepted accounting principles, exploration and prospecting costs are charged
to expense as incurred, as are development costs for projects
not yet determined by management to be commercially feasible. Expenditures for mine development are capitalized when
the properties are determined to have economically recoverable proven reserves but are not yet producing at a commercial level. Prior to commencing commercial production,
revenue relating to development ore, net of mining costs associated with its production, is offset against mine development
costs. Mine development costs incurred to access reserves on
producing mines are also capitalized. Capitalization of all
exploration, development, and acquisition costs, commences
once the Company identifies proven and probable reserves
that relate to specific properties.
Mining projects and properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. If estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the
mining project or property and its eventual disposition are less
than the carrying amount of the mining project or property, an
impairment is recognized based upon the estimated fair value
of the mining project or property. Fair value generally is based
on the present value of estimated future net cash flows for each
mining project or property, calculated using estimates of
proven and probable mineable reserves, future prices, operating
costs, capital requirements and reclamation costs.
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(4) Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of
For United States reporting purposes, the Company has
adopted SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed
of .” In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and an
estimate of future undiscounted cash flows is less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss will be recognized. Management’s estimates of gold prices, recoverable
proven and probable reserves, operating capital, and reclamation costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which
may affect the recoverability of the Company’s investment in
property, plant, and equipment. Although management has
made its best estimate of these factors based on current conditions, it is possible that changes could occur which could
adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow
expected to be generated from its operations.
The Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo, Cristinas 4
and 6 and Knob Hill properties, which have a total capitalized
cost of $42,690,729 for Canadian reporting purposes, have
been written down for U.S. reporting purposes, as they have
no determinable proven or probable reserves. As a result of a
study of gold reserves of its mineral properties, the Company
has recorded a $12,643,590 (1999 - $5,497,813; 1998 $4,751,755) write-down of its investment in mineral properties for United States reporting purposes. Since the fair value
of the Albino 1, Mineiro properties and Bolivar Goldfields
properties exceed their capitalized cost, there has been no
adjustment to the cost of these properties. The estimated fair
value of the properties would vary if future conditions do not
occur in accordance with assumptions.

(6) Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities
In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 “Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which
establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative
instruments and for hedging activities. SFAS 133 is effective
for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15,
1999. In June 1999, the FASB issued SFAS 137 to defer the
effective date of SFAS 133 to fiscal quarters of fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 1999. In June 2000, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 138, which is a significant amendment to SFAS
133. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption
of these statements will have a significant impact on its
financial statements.
(7) Comprehensive Income
In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130 “Reporting
Comprehensive Income.” SFAS No. 130 establishes standards
for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and
its components (revenue, expenses, gains and losses). The
purpose of reporting comprehensive income is to present a
measure of all changes in shareholders’ equity that result from
recognized transactions and other economic events of the
year, other than transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners. SFAS No. 130 is effective for financial statements
issued for periods beginning after December 15, 1997.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 130 for the year ended
December 31, 1998. Total comprehensive income (loss) for
the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 was
$(14,074,456), $180,587 and $(15,521,141), respectively.
The only items included in other comprehensive income
(loss) is foreign currency translation adjustments in the
amounts of $948,317, $(1,150,268) and $10,360 and unrealized losses on available for sale securities in the amount of
$1,339,338, $Nil and $Nil for the years ended December 31,
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

(5) Marketable Securities
In May 1993, the FASB issued SFAS No. 115, “Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” which
became effective for years beginning after December 31, 1993.
The statement requires that certain investments be classified
into available-for-sale or trading securities stated at fair market
values. Any unrealized holding gains or losses are to be reported
as a separate component of shareholders’ equity until realized
for available-for-sale securities, and included in earnings for
trading securities. Under SFAS 115, the Company’s investment
in marketable securities in the amount of $227,901 would be
classified as trading securities and its investment in long-term
investment securities in the amount of $2,643,338 would be
classified as available-for-sale securities.

(8) Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit losses in the event of
non-performance by the counterparties to the financial
instruments, but does not expect any counterparties to fail
to meet their obligations. The Company generally does not
obtain collateral or other security to support financial
instruments subject to credit risk but monitors the credit
standing of counterparties.
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The impact of the above differences between Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles on the
consolidated balance sheet items as reported, is as follows:
2000
Balance as
Reported
Current assets
Security deposits
Long-term investment
securities
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred financing fee
Deferred acquisition cost
Allowance for write-down of
mineral properties
Current liabilities
Reclamation provision
Long-term debts
Deferred charges
Minority interest
Shareholders’ equity

$ 21,043,385
255,131

1999

Balance as per
United States Reporting
Adjustments
Requirements
$

–
–

Balance as
Reported

Balance as per
United States Reporting
Adjustments
Requirements

$ 21,043,385
255,131

$ 21,819,555 $
190,468
–
90,864,162
–
–

2,643,338
135,444,453
101,453
4,598,639

(1,339,338)
(765,498)
–
–

1,304,000
134,678,955
101,453
4,598,639

–
$164,086,399
$ 18,091,457
1,485,301
32,656,570
797,127
142,886
110,913,058
$164,086,399

(41,925,231)
$(44,030,067)
$
–
–
–
–
–
(44,030,067)
$(44,030,067)

(41,925,231)
$120,056,332
$ 18,091,457
1,485,301
32,656,570
797,127
142,886
66,882,991
$120,056,332
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–
–

$ 21,819,555
190,468

–
(765,498)
–
–

–
90,098,664
–
–

– (29,281,641)
$112,874,185 $(30,047,139)
$ 15,292,924 $
–
1,081,329
–
16,848,835
–
284,941
–
–
–
79,366,156 (30,047,139)
$112,874,185 $(30,047,139)

(29,281,641)
$ 82,827,046
$ 15,292,924
1,081,329
16,848,835
284,941
–
49,319,017
$ 82,827,046
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The impact of the differences between Canadian and United States generally accepted accounting principles on mineral properties
and deferred exploration costs of those properties with unproven and those with proven and probable reserves is as follows:
2000

Balance as
Reported

Balance as per
United States Reporting
Requirements

$ 3,416,576
37,990,369
518,283
3
41,925,231

$ 3,416,576
37,990,369
518,283
3
41,925,231

$ 3,416,576
25,346,779
518,283
3
29,281,641

$ 3,416,576
25,346,779
518,283
3
29,281,461

–
41,925,231

(41,925,231)
–

–
29,281,641

(29,281,641)
–

17,710,939
20,959,392
724,548
39,394,879
(3,783,529)
35,611,350
$77,536,581

17,710,939
20,959,392
724,548
39,394,879
(3,783,529)
35,611,350
$ 35,611,350

17,710,939
–
724,548
18,435,487
(1,675,662)
16,759,825
$46,041,466

17,710,939
–
724,548
18,435,487
(1,675,662)
16,759,825
$ 16,759,825

$

$

$

$

Balance as
Reported
Mineral Properties with
Unproven Reserves
Santa Elena/Carabobo
Las Cristinas 4 and 6
Knob Hill
Other
Less: allowance for write-down of
mineral properties
Mineral Properties with
Proven and Probable Reserves
Albino 1
Bolivar Goldfields
Mineiro
Accumulated depletion
Total capitalized cost
Deferred Exploration Costs
with Unproven Reserves
Santa Elena/Carabobo
Deferred Exploration Costs
with Proven and Probable Reserves
Albino 1
Mineiro
San Gregorio
Accumulated depletion
Total capitalized cost

1999

Balance as per
United States Reporting
Requirements

765,498

6,806,898
890,263
301,099
7,998,260
(745,883)
7,252,377
$ 8,017,875
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–

6,806,898
890,263
301,099
7,998,260
(745,883)
7,252,377
$ 7,252,377

765,498

6,806,898
890,263
167,414
7,864,575
(678,380)
7,186,195
$ 7,951,693

–

6,806,898
890,263
167,414
7,864,575
(678,380)
7,186,195
$ 7,186,195
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The impact of the above differences between Canadian
and United States generally accepted accounting principles
on the income (loss) for the period would be as follows:
2000
Income for the period,
as reported
Less:
Compensation
expense on granting
of stock options
Amounts written
down for mineral
property acquisitions
Deferred exploration
costs
Loss for the year in
accordance with
United States
generally accepted
accounting principles
Loss per share in
accordance with
United States
generally accepted
accounting principles
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$ 3,304,556

1999

Income Taxes

Income tax expenses varies from the amount that would be
computed by applying the combined federal and provincial
income tax rate of 45.6% to income before taxes as follows:

1998

$5,272,947 $ (7,215,604)

(2,447,767)

(734,015)

(3,577,980)

(12,643,590)

(5,497,813)

(4,751,755)

–

(10,800)

34,558

$(11,786,801)

15
Income (loss) before
income taxes (recovery)
Expected income taxes
(recovery)
Loss carryforwards
Resource allowance not
subject to taxes
Tax loss benefit not
recognized for
book purposes
Other
Actual income taxes

$ (969,681) $(15,510,781)

2000

1999

$ 3,304,556

$ 5,272,947

$(7,215,604)

1,506,878
(1,309,500)

2,404,464
–

(3,290,315)
–

(529,976)

–
332,598
$
–

(1,831,379)

(0.22) $

(0.02) $

–

–
3,290,315
(573,085)
–
$
– $
–

The significant components of the Company’s future tax
assets are as follows:
2000

$

1998

Net operating loss carryforwards
Cumulative exploration and
development expenses
Property, plant and equipment
Other

(0.43)

Related Party Transactions

During the year, the Company entered into the following
transactions with related parties:
a.) Paid or accrued consulting and management fees of $687,530
(1999 - $648,438; 1998 - $2,021,843) to directors of the
Company and companies related to directors and an officer
of the Company.
b.) Paid or accrued legal fees of $485,673 (1999 - $507,810;
1998 - $380,908) to companies related to directors of
the Company.

Less: valuation allowance
Net future tax assets

1999

$ 21,303,338 $ 19,681,796
2,636,477
2,636,477
169,255
2,595,340
257,259
392,608
24,366,329
25,306,221
(24,366,329) (25,306,221)
$
– $
–

The Company has non-capital losses, which may be carried
forward and applied against taxable income in future years.
These losses expire during the following years:
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

27

$12,035,472
13,355,097
25,496,643
5,221,043
3,816,819
926,839
6,296
$60,858,209
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Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended
December 31, 1998 included:
i) The Company issued 75,000 common shares, with a deemed
value of $487,500, for the Knob Hill property payment.
ii) The Company issued 480,000 common shares, with a
deemed value of $462,900 for the Cristinas 4 and 6
property payment.
iii) The Company issued 3,375,317 common shares upon
conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest in
the amount of $19,146,261.
iv) The Company applied $611,688 of the deferred financing
fees against share capital upon conversion of notes to
common stock.

Supplemantal Disclosures$
with Respect to Cash Flows

Cash paid during the period
for interest
Cash paid during the period
for income taxes

2000

1999

1998

$887,351

$946,656

$40,896

$

$

$

–

–

–

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended
December 31, 2000 included:
i) The Company issued 29,536 common shares, with a deemed
value of $69,557, for management fees.
ii) The Company issued 300,000 common shares, with a
deemed value of $698,820, for legal fees.
iii The Company issued 4,580,404 common shares, with
a deemed value of $10,956,327, for the Cristinas 4 and 6
property payment.
iv) The Company issued 1,268,749 common shares,
with a deemed value of $2,345,631, to acquire Bolivar
Goldfields, A.V.V.
v) The Company issued 4,498,555 common shares upon
conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest in the
amount of $8,417,576.
vi) The Company applied $853,621 of the deferred financing
fees against share capital upon conversion of notes to
common stock.
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Segmented Information

The Company operates principally in four geographic areas:
Brazil, Canada, Uruguay and Venezuela. The following is a
summary of the information by area for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:
Industry Segments
Substantially all of the Company’s operations are within the
mining sector. The Company’s major product is gold produced from operations located in Venezuela and Uruguay.
Geographic Segments
2000

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended
December 31, 1999 included:
i) The Company issued 81,824 common shares, with a deemed
value of $71,470, for management fees.
ii) The Company issued 929,666 common shares, with a
deemed value of $1,079,246, for legal fees.
iii) The Company issued 3,033,165 common shares, with a
deemed value of $3,189,412, for the Cristinas 4 and 6
property payment.
iv) The Company issued 4,306,930 common shares upon
conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest in the
amount of $3,281,149.
v) The Company applied $500,091 of the deferred financing
fees against share capital upon conversion of notes to
common stock.
vi) The Company issued 383,503 common shares, with a
deemed value of $325,862, for consulting fees.

Operating revenue:
Brazil
Canada
Uruguay
Venezuela
Income (loss) before
other items:
Brazil
Canada
Uruguay
Venezuela
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$

–
–
38,392,914
9,339,823
$47,732,737

$

1999
$

–
–
35,907,539
–
$35,907,539

1998
$

–
–
6,784,765
1,783,983
$ 8,568,748

(775) $
(824) $
(1,659)
(3,699,095) (3,872,683) (6,129,420)
7,427,495
8,529,888
1,864,381
(588,350)
(858,806) (5,156,149)
$ 3,139,275 $ 3,797,575 $(9,422,847)
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The directors’ cost of acquiring the shares of Mael is US$30
million, of which US$6.5 million was paid as of December 31,
1998. Effective April 30, 1999, Ventures and Red Glove
Corp. A.V.V. agreed to reduce the remaining portion of the
purchase price from US$23.5 million to US$10 million
plus 5 million warrants to purchase common shares of the
Company at a price of US$2 per share. As at September 30,
2000, the US$10 million was fully paid through the issuance
of common shares of the Company and US$250,000 in cash.
The call right is irrevocable and unconditional, unless prior
to its exercise a person together with any parties acting jointly
or in concert with it acquires 20% or more of the outstanding
voting shares of the Company without the approval of the
Board of Directors. In such event, the call right will be terminated and Ventures and its shareholders will be required to
dispose of the investment in Mael in a commercially reasonable manner with a view to maximizing the proceeds of such
disposition. The net proceeds of disposition, whether represented by cash or securities, would be distributed after payment
of liabilities to those persons who were shareholders of the
Company immediately prior to the 20% ownership threshold
being surpassed. Under the Call Agreement, the Company
has the right to vote the shares of Ventures (See Note 6,
Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions).

Income (loss) before other items is comprised of operating
revenue less operating expenses including amortization and
depletion, write-down of assets, general and administrative
expenses and exploration expenses.
2000
Identifiable assets:
Brazil
Canada
Uruguay
Venezuela

1999

1998

$ 1,617,099 $ 1,617,876 $ 1,618,726
5,027,547
2,023,762
2,393,164
46,474,263
51,995,412
49,587,295
110,967,490
57,237,135
52,124,989
$164,086,399 $112,874,185 $105,724,174

Major Customers
The Company is not economically dependent on a limited
number of customers for the sale of its products because gold
commodity markets are well established worldwide. During
the 2000, 1999 and 1998 open market gold sales accounted for
$38,392,914, $35,907,539 and $6,784,765 or 80%, 100%
and 79%, respectively of the total sales. The Government of
Venezuela accounted for the balance.
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Commitments

Agreement
The Company entered into an agreement (“Call Agreement”)
whereby it acquired an exclusive call right to acquire all of the
common shares of Ventures (Barbados) Ltd. (“Ventures”).
Ventures indirectly owns, as its sole material asset, the outstanding shares of Inversora Mael, C.A. (“Mael”). The directors of Ventures have granted the Company an exclusive right
to acquire all of the shares of Ventures at their cost at any
time. Therefore, the accounting for this transaction when it
does take place will be at the cost to the Company which is
equal to the directors cost, resulting in no capital distribution
by the Company to the directors.

Hedging
The Company has entered into contractual agreements
with major financial institutions to deliver gold. Realization
under these agreements is dependent upon the ability of
those financial institutions to perform in accordance with
the terms of these agreements. As at December 31, 2000, the
Company’s consolidated hedging program consists of fixed
forward sales contracts totalling 164,523 ounces of gold over
the next three years at prices in excess of US$300 per ounce.
The fair value of all the Company’s hedge position at
December 31, 2000 is $10,845,637 (1999 - $5,384,160)
above the carrying value of $Nil.

29
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Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable securities, security
deposits, long-term investment securities, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, amounts due to/from related parties and
long-term debt. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s
opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these financial instruments. The fair value of these financial instruments
approximates their carrying values, unless otherwise noted.
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable securities, security deposits, accounts payable and amounts due
to/from related parties approximated carrying values because
of the short-term nature of these instruments, except for the
fair values of the hedging contracts disclosed in Note 18.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to year end, the Company entered into the
following agreement:
Bid for El Callao Mining Corp.
On February 26, 2001, the Company completed the take-over
bid made by its wholly-owned subsidiary to acquire any and
all of the common shares of ECM. The shares of ECM deposited
to the offer totalled 36,575,832, representing approximately
80% of the outstanding shares of ECM. The subsidiary assigned
its rights under the bid to the Company and the Company
took up and paid for the ECM shares by issuing an aggregate
of 2,438,352 common shares of the Company.
Concurrently with the completion of the take-over bid,
the Company closed its previously announced acquisition
from Bema of assets related to ECM. The principal asset
purchased from Bema, previously ECM’s largest shareholder,
was its shareholder loan to ECM.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Crystallex International Corporation – 2000 Annual Report
To The Shareholders of
Crystallex International Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Crystallex
International Corporation as at December 31, 2000 and
1999 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes
in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian and
United States generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the
results of its operations and the changes in its shareholders’
equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2000,
1999 and 1998, expressed in Canadian dollars, in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Vancouver, Canada
March 27, 2001
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Marc J. Oppenheimer
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Luca Riccio
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A. Richard Marshall
Vice President – Corporate Development
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Robert A. Fung
Chairman
Deputy Chairman, Yorkton Financial Inc.

Harry J. Near
President
Earnscliffe Strategy Group

Marc J. Oppenheimer
President and Chief Executive Officer
Crystallex International Corporation

Daniel R. Ross
Partner
McCarthy Tétrault
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Dr. Enrique Tejera Paris
President
Minera Venamo, C.A.
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Partner
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Continue to explore and develop current land
holdings in Venezuela and Uruguay.
Invest in producing and near-production
projects.
Reinvest cash flow to expand current reserves
and increase production profile.



Identify and acquire under-explored properties
with the potential to host significant reserves
with low operating costs.

The San Gregorio mine in the Rivera Province of
northern Uruguay is a conventional open pit operation
with one large producing pit (San Gregorio) and three
satellite deposits (West Extension, East Extension and
Santa Teresa). Crystallex acquired San Gregorio in 1998
and is currently producing gold at an annual rate of more
than 70,000 ounces. The mill at San Gregorio, currently
operating at 3,000 tonnes per day with a 93 percent
recovery rate, will be undergoing a two-phase upgrade to
increase throughput to 4,000 tonnes per day by 2003.
This should facilitate the economic processing of
additional material to offset depletion of the main pit.

Albino 1 was the Company’s first operating open pit
mine from which it produced gold from 1994 through
1998. Engineering studies conducted in 1999 determined that underground mining was economically
feasible and preparations for such operations were
commenced in 2000. Operations are scheduled to
begin this year and, in 2002, ore will be accessed by
underground mining.

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred
Mineral Reserves
Probable

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

12,948,884 1.295
539,329 1.190
6,516,818

1.59

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Gold
Price

0.5
0.5
0.7

US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. Reserves and resources were estimated by Mauricio Martinez Cavalla, P.Eng, a qualified person
employed by Crystallex as Chief Engineer at San Gregorio.
3. Calculation Method: Medsystem Modeling Techniques.
4. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
5. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

From left to right: Brian Northgrave, Canadian Ambassador to Uruguay;
Robert A. Fung; Dr. Jorge Batlle, President of The Republic of Uruguay; Marc J.
Oppenheimer; Joaquin Sarroca, Land Manager –Minera San Gregorio.

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred
Mineral Reserves
Probable

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Gold
Price

1.0
1.0

1,183,832 2.90 1.16; 1.549(2) US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves figures at the Tomi property are not included in the Mineral Resources category,
with the exception of 184,073 tonnes at 3.8 g/t Au in Charlie Richards, which are part of the total
reserve of 1.183 million tonnes grading at 2.90 g/t Au.
2. Lower cutoff for oxide ore. Higher cutoff for sulphide ore.
3. The Charlie Richards resources were estimated by Steve Ristorcelli, P.Eng, a qualified person employed
by MDA of Reno, Nevada.
4. The Fosforito resources were estimated by Eddy Canova, P.Geo, a qualified person previously employed
by Bolivar Goldfields as Chief Geologist at Tomi.
5. The mineral reserves were verified by Nick Suter, a qualified person employed by Crystallex as Chief Mine
Geologist. The verification is based on resource and reserve estimates carried out by David A. Tutton, C.Eng,
of Micon International, Canada.
6. Calculation Method: Datamine and Gemcom Block Modeling Techniques.
7. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
8. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Lo Increible

Albino 1

Albino

Grade
Tonnes (g/t Au)

Mineral Resources
Indicated (Charlie Richards) 851,000 5.42
Inferred (Fosforito)
450,997 3.14

VENEZUELA

San Gregorio

San Gregorio

As of December 31, 2000

Mineral Reserves
Probable



URUGUAY

Tomi

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

1,639,803
297,939

5.65
3.39

2.0
2.0

398,616 10.75

4.46

Gold
Price

US$300/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. The mineral resources were verified by Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, a qualified person employed by
Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.
3. The mineral reserves were verified by Richard Gresham, P.Eng, of MHE, Arizona, a qualified person
contracted by Crystallex to prepare a feasibility study of the Albino deposit.
4. Calculation Method: Cross Sectional Polygonal.
5. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
6. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Lo Increible is a pre-feasibility stage gold property
located adjacent to Crystallex’s Revemin mill in the
El Callao region of Venezuela. Crystallex acquired
the project through a takeover bid for the shares of
El Callao Mining Corp. and the purchase of certain
assets from its principal shareholder. The transaction
was completed on February 26, 2001. La Victoria open
pit is one of several gold deposits in the project, which
while containing abundant open pit resources, may
also have the potential for future underground mining.
Lo Increible
As of December 31, 2000

Tonnes

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred

8,876,000 3.389
15,083,000 3.262

1.0
1.0

Mineral Reserves
Probable

5,221,195 3.146

1.0

Gold
Price

US$325/oz.

1. The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
2. The resources were estimated by Susan N. Meister, Vice President Geological Modeling, a qualified person
employed by MRDI of San Mateo, California.
3. The reserves were estimated by Jim Harer, P.Eng, a qualified person employed by Bema Gold, Vancouver.
4. Calculation Method: Medsystem Modeling Techniques.
5. Resource and reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the Standards of Mineral Resource
and Reserve Definitions and Guidelines of the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum
(“CIM”).
6. Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

Tomi Mine
Crystallex acquired the Tomi concession in June 2000
for US$20 million, by way of a payment of US$5 million in cash, a US$2 million note payable in 90 days
following the acquisition, and the assumption of
US$13 million in existing long-term debt. Located in
Venezuela’s Bolivar State, the mine’s current reserves
are located in three pits: McKenzie, Charlie Richards
and Milagrito. In addition to the concession’s openpit reserves, recent drilling below the Charlie Richards
pit has intersected continuous areas of high-grade
mineralization suggesting a strong potential for
underground mining.

The Tomi mine is currently an open-pit operation, but exploration
in the vicinity of the Charlie Richards pit indicates a strong potential
for underground mining.

Las Cristinas 4 and 6
The Cristinas gold properties in Venezuela’s Kilometre
88 region contain one of the richest gold finds in
South America with reported reserves of 233 million
tonnes grading at 1.21 g/t Au and 0.16% Cu. In 1997,
Crystallex acquired the rights to the Cristinas 4 and 6
concessions through the purchase of Inversora Mael,
the entity that has been the registered titleholder since
1986. In 1991, 1996 and 1997, the Supreme Court
of Venezuela confirmed the validity of the transfer
of the concessions to Inversora Mael. Despite a
decision by the Supreme Court in June 1998 denying
Crystallex legal standing to pursue its rights, more
recent rulings by bodies of the Supreme Court of
Venezuela in 2000 supported the Company’s legal
standing to pursue its rights in relation to these
concessions, and Crystallex is optimistic regarding
the final decision of the Venezuelan authorities.

PROTECTING THE ENVIRONMENT
The effect of mining
on the environment
has always been
one of Crystallex’s
concerns, and the
Company has
implemented measures to protect the
environment at its
operations in both
Uruguay and
Venezuela. Many of these measures center on the
tailings disposition facilities, including maintaining
adequate pond lining, monitoring the pond water
and reclaiming water for reuse. Reforestation plays
an important role in the Company’s environmental
programs, and Crystallex also pays close attention
to the physical appearance of its operations, making
sure that scrap and other materials used in the mining
process are disposed of properly. The result is an
environment that allows for the economic mining
of gold and, at the same time, respects the habitats
of plants and animals that live in the regions where
the Company has operations. Such is the case with
the rare Ñandú Ostrich of Uruguay and the
endangered Ombú tree, both of which thrive
on and around the San Gregorio property. The
environment will continue to be a priority and
Crystallex plans to maintain high standards
to protect it.

Corporate Offices
700 West Pender
Suite 902
Vancouver, BC V6C 1G8
(604) 683-0672

Shareholders of Record

Independent Auditors
Davidson & Company
Stock Exchange Tower
609 Granville Street, Suite 1200
P.O. Box 10372 Pacific Centre
Vancouver, BC V7Y 1G6

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the
American Stock Exchange under the symbol KRY. Quarterly high and low stock prices
for 2000 and 1999 were:

Corporate Counsel
McCarthy Tétrault
Toronto Dominion Bank Tower
Toronto Dominion Centre
Toronto, ON M5K 1E6
Transfer Agent and Registrar
CIBC Mellon Trust Company
Corporate Trust Services
Suite 1600
The Oceanic Plaza
1066 West Hastings Street
Vancouver, BC V6E 3X1
Investor Contact
A. Richard Marshall
Vice President – Corporate Development
(201) 541-6650
www.crystallex.com

As of May 11, 2001, Crystallex International Corporation had approximately 408
shareholders of record. This number excludes individual shareholders holding stock
under nominee security positions.

Share Prices

(In Canadian dollars)

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2000
High
Low

1999
High
Low

$3.80
4.25
2.95
2.25

$1.80
1.43
1.60
2.50

$1.33
1.85
1.70
1.19

$.77
.78
.74
.99

Forward-Looking Information
This annual report may contain certain “forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended.All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this report, including,
without limitation, statements regarding potential mineralization and reserves,
exploration results and future plans and objectives of Crystallex, are forward-looking
statements that involve various risks and uncertainties. There can be no assurance
that such statements will prove to be accurate, and actual results and future events
could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations
are disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in documents filed
from time to time with the Toronto Stock Exchange, the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission and other regulatory authorities.
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CRYSTALLEX INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
Crystallex International Corporation is a Canadian-based
intermediate producer of gold with operations and exploration
properties in Uruguay, Venezuela, Brazil and Canada. Currently,
the Company is operating the San Gregorio mine in the Rivera
Crystalline Island of Uruguay and the Tomi mine and Revemin

A Two-Part
Investment Story

mill in the El Callao district of Venezuela. The Company is also

Crystallex International Corporation
700 West Pender
Suite 902
Vancouver, BC V6C 1G8
PH: 604-683-0672

concession in the gold-rich Kilometre 88 region of Venezuela.

preparing to commence underground mining at its Albino 1

Crystallex has held firm to its objective of maintaining disciplined
growth through internal development of exploration properties
and the acquisition of producing and near-term production
properties in high potential areas. Crystallex’s Board of Directors
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works closely with its experienced management team to determine
the economic feasibility of such acquisitions and to determine
the Company’s strategic direction.
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